
 

 
Local Pension Board 

 
Date Thursday 3 December 2020 

Time 2.00 pm 

Venue Remote Meeting - This meeting is being held 
remotely via Microsoft Teams 

 
Business 

 
Part A 

 
 

Items which are open to the Public and Press 
 
 
1. Election of Chair   

2. Apologies for Absence   

3. Declarations of Interest (if any)   

4. The Minutes of the Meeting held on 12 March 2020  (Pages 3 - 6) 

5. Matters arising since the last meeting of the Board   

6. Observations from Pension Fund Committee held on 3 December 
2020   

7. Pension Fund Valuation  (Pages 7 - 66) 

8. KPI Verbal Update   

9. Fund Discretions Verbal Update   

10. Date of Next Meeting   

11. Any Other Business   

 
 
 

Helen Lynch 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

 
County Hall 
Durham 
25 November 2020 
 
 
 
 



To: The Members of the Local Pension Board 
 

 Scheme Employer Representatives  
Councillors A Hopgood and F Tinsley (1 vacancy) 
 

 

  Scheme Member Representatives 
  I Densham, N Hancock and L Oliver 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Contact: Jill Errington Email: 03000 269703 

 



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 

At a Meeting of Local Pension Board held in Committee Room 2, County Hall, 
Durham on Thursday 12 March 2020 at 2.00 pm 

 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor I Densham (Chair) 

 

Scheme Employer Representatives: 

Councillors F Tinsley and A Hopgood 
 
Scheme Member Representative: 
Neville Hancock 
 
Officers: 
Paul Cooper – Pensions Manager 
Beverley White – Finance Manager 
Ashleigh Phillips – Pensions Team Leader 
Bryan Smith – Legal Manager – Governance and Litigation 
 

 

 
Paul Cooper announced the appointment of Mr Les Oliver to the vacant position of 
scheme member representative. Mr Oliver would be in attendance at the next 
meeting. 

 

1 Apologies for Absence  
 
An apology for absence was received from Mr Les Oliver. 

 

2 Declarations of Interest  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 

 

3 Minutes  
 
The Minutes of the meeting held on 5 December 2019 were agreed as a correct 
record and were signed by the Chair. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



Matters Arising from the Minutes 
 
Internal Dispute Resolution Procedure (IDRP) 
 
Paul Cooper confirmed that following discussion with neighbouring funds at the 
NEPO Forum, a template form in respect of Stage 1 IDRP appeals would be drafted 
and published on the Council’s website. 
 
Benefits Statements 
 
At the last meeting it was reported that a number of scheme members had not 
received benefits statements. On examination it was found that the employees 
affected did not have a signed admission agreement. Records had now been 
updated and benefits statements would be issued to those employees.  

 

4 Observations from Pension Fund Committee held on 12 March 
2020  
 
Ian Densham and Councillors Amanda Hopgood and Fraser Tinsley were in 
attendance at the Committee and provided their observations from the meeting.  
 
The Board Members were pleased to note that the Pension Fund Committee had 
asked some challenging questions of the Managers and Advisers.  
 
Councillor Tinsley referred to the Investment Strategy review and noted the 
proposed 5% shift from Index Linked Gilts to UK Property but felt that the absence 
of a risk profile had not been picked up by Members. Paul Cooper advised that a 
Committee training session on Index Linked Gilts on 6 March 2020 had addressed 
risks. 
 
Following a question from Ian Densham, Paul Cooper explained that the decision to 
reduce the allocation to Index Linked Gilts would be included in the ISS, with the 
Corporate Director of Resources granted delegated authority to update the Strategy 
to reflect this. The 5% allocation for UK Property would remain with AB for the time-
being. 
 
Councillor Hopgood considered that the Pension Fund Advisers’ views on the 
impact of Covid-19 were over-optimistic, and she was concerned  about the effects 
on global and UK markets, and the impact this may have on the Fund. Paul Cooper 
replied that Durham Pension Fund was a long-term investor, and the 35% allocation 
in defensive markets would offset the riskier high return investments. The situation 
would be closely monitored; Officers met regularly with the Chair of the Committee 
between meetings, and the Chair attended BCPP Joint Committee meetings. 
 
Board Members were informed that the Scheme Advisory Board would review 
governance arrangements in May 2020. Feedback would be provided at the next 
Board meeting for consideration, together with a review of the Work Plan.  
 
 
 

Page 4



AGREED: 
 
That the observations be noted. 

 

5 Communications Review  
 
The Board considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources which 
provided details of how different stakeholder groups received communication from 
the Pension Fund, and explained plans to develop the Communication Strategy (for 
copy see file of Minutes). 
 
Councillor Hopgood referred to the Statement at Appendix 1 and asked if the Local 
Pension Board should be included in the list of those bodies the Administering 
Authority communicated with. Paul Cooper confirmed that the Statement would be 
updated to reflect this. 
 
Neville Hancock noted the proposal for on-line access to benefits statements by 
scheme members, and welcomed the proposed guide to scheme benefits. 
 
AGREED: 
 
That the Communications Policy Statement be noted, and updated to include 
reference to the Local Pension Board.  

 

6 Internal Dispute Resolution Procedure (IDRP)  
 
The Board considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources which 
provided a summary of the outcomes of internal dispute cases or Pensions 
Ombudsman cases the Pension Fund had been involved in since April 2019 (for 
copy see file of Minutes). 
 
Following discussion it was AGREED: 
 
That the report be noted. 

 

7 Date of Next Meeting  
 
AGREED that the next meeting be held at 2.00pm on Thursday 11 June 2020. 

 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Local Pension Board 

3 December 2020 

Pension Fund Valuation  

 

Report of John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources 

 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide Board Members with details of the outcome of the triennial 
valuation of the Pension Fund. 

Executive summary 

2 This report outlines the outcome of the Pension Fund’s triennial 
valuation. Completed with the Fund’s actuary, Aon Hewitt, the Valuation 
Report summarising the funding valuation as at 31 March 2019 is 
published on the Fund’s website. 

Recommendation(s) 

3 The Board is asked to note this report and provide any comments on 
the Valuation process. 

  

Page 7

Agenda Item 7



Background 

4 Under the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) Regulations, 
Administering Authorities are required to carry out a full actuarial 
valuation every third year. The main purposes of the actuarial valuation 
process is to review the financial position of the Fund and to 
recommend the rates of contributions payable to the Fund in the future. 

5 Regulation 62 requires an Administering Authority to obtain an actuarial 
valuation of the assets and liabilities of its pension funds as at 31 
March, each third year. The Valuation Report (Appendix 1) is produced 
by the Fund’s actuary, Aon, in respect of this valuation and contains the 
Rates and Adjustments certificate required. 

6 As required by Regulation 66, the report was published and was made 
available to the Secretary of State, and current and prospective 
employers who contribute or may become liable to make payments to 
the Fund. All employers were notified of their individual contribution 
rates in advance of 1 April 2020 when the new rates took effect. 

7 The main findings of the valuation were that the Fund’s assets had 
increased from £2.32bn to £2.98bn. The liabilities of the Fund however, 
had increased from £2.85bn to £3.18bn. Overall, this meant that the 
funding level has improved from 81% to 94%. 

 

Author(s) 

Paul Cooper    Tel:  03000 269798 

 

  

Page 8



Appendix 1:  Durham County Council Pension Fund 2019 
Actuarial Valuation 

 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Report on the 31 March 
2019 actuarial valuation   

Prepared for Durham County Council as Administering Authority of the  

Durham County Council Pension Fund 

Prepared by Aon 

31 March 2020 

 

2019 

P
age 11



 

2 

At a glance 
Past Service Position 

There was a shortfall of £195.5M relative to the liabilities. The funding level was 94%. 

 

Employer Contributions 

% of  
Pensionable Pay 

2019 valuation 2016 valuation 

Primary rate 17.9% 16.7% 

Secondary rate 3.9%# 7.9% 

Total rate 21.8% 24.6% 

Recovery period 18 years from 1 April 2020 21 years from 1 April 2017 

#This includes an allowance of 0.9% of pay in respect of McCloud/cost management 

The contributions payable by each employer or group of employers may differ because they 
allow for each employer's or group's membership profile, funding target and funding level, 
recovery period and other parameters appropriate to their circumstances. 

Shorthand 

Funding level: the value of assets held by the Fund divided 
by the liabilities. 

Funding target (liabilities): the level of assets determined 
by the Administering Authority as being appropriate to meet 
member benefits, assuming the Fund continues indefinitely. 

Primary rate: the employer share of the cost of benefits 
being earned in future, expressed as a percentage of 
pensionable pay. The figure quoted is a weighted average 
of all employers' primary rates. 

Pensionable pay: as defined in the Regulations in relation 
to post-2014 membership. 

Recovery period: the period over which any surplus or 
shortfall is eliminated.   

Secondary rate: the adjustment to the primary rate which 
reflects the specific circumstances of the Fund as a whole, 
including any surplus or shortfall and the potential impact of 
the legislative uncertainties (see Further Information section 
c for more details). 

Shortfall (deficit) or Surplus: the difference between the 
value of assets and the aggregate funding target (value of 
the liabilities) for the Fund as a whole, where the value of 
assets is less/higher than the funding target. Individual 
employers may have a surplus or shortfall, and the total of 
these will equal to the shortfall or surplus for the Fund as a 
whole. 

2,982.0M

1,195.2 462.0 1,520.3

Assets (£2,982.0M)

Funding Target (£3,177.5M)

Actives Deferreds Pensioners

P
age 12



 

3 

Introduction 
Contents 
At a glance ............................. 2 
Introduction ............................ 3 
Update since the previous 
valuation ................................. 5 
Notable changes since the 
previous valuation .................. 6 
Membership data and benefits
 ............................................... 7 
Funding objectives ................. 8 
Summary of assumptions ..... 10 
Past service results .............. 13 
Addressing the shortfall / 
allowing for the surplus ........ 14 
Future service results ........... 15 
Risks and uncertainties ........ 16 
Employer contribution rates . 17 
Final comments .................... 19 
Further information ............... 21 

Legal framework .......................22 

Membership data .....................24 

Uncertainties ............................27 

Assets.......................................32 

 This actuarial valuation report is required by Regulation 62 of the Regulations. It summarises the results of the funding 
valuation of the Fund at as 31 March 2019, including the Rates and Adjustments Certificate which sets out the contributions 
payable by employers from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2023. 

Next steps 

This report concludes the formal valuation process and draws together other pieces of work and advice. As required by 
Regulation 66 this report must be published and made available to the Secretary of State, current and prospective 
employers who contribute, or may become liable to make payments to the Fund. 

 
 

Becky Durran FIA  

Becky.durran@aon.com 

Jonathan Teasdale FIA 

Jonathan.teasdale@aon.com 

 

 

 

 

 

The report concentrates on the Fund's financial position at the valuation date. As time moves on, the Fund's finances will 
fluctuate. If you are reading this report sometime after the valuation date, the Fund's financial position could have 
changed significantly. 

P
age 13

mailto:Becky.durran@aon.com
mailto:Jonathan.teasdale@aon.com


 

4 

Assumptions .............................33 

Membership experience ...........37 

Dashboard ................................38 

Rates and Adjustments 
Certificate .................................41 

Glossary ...................................47 

Contact us ............................ 56 

 

 

Shorthand 

Fund: Durham County Council Pension Fund 

Administering Authority: Durham County Council, in its role as the Administering Authority of the Fund 

Employers: Durham County Council, and other employers with employees participating in the Fund 

Regulations: The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 (and other Regulations as referenced in the 
Glossary) 

Additional information 

Section a in the Further Information Section appended to this report sets out the legal framework within which the valuation 
has been completed.  

The benefits valued are set out in the Regulations. 

Throughout this report, assets and liabilities in respect of defined contribution additional voluntary contributions (or AVCs) 
have been excluded. 

The funding targets, recovery periods and other parameters which apply to individual employers or groups of employers are 
set out in other advice papers. 

P
age 14



 

5 

Update since the previous valuation  
 

Employer contributions from 1 April 2016 were agreed to broadly restore the funding level 
to 100% over a period of up to 21 years as follows: 

 An average primary contribution rate of 16.7% of pensionable pay; and  

 Secondary contributions giving total contributions as follows: 

Year from 1 April % of Pensionable Pay  Plus aggregate contribution 
amounts (£M) 

2017 16.2% 68.8 
2018 16.4% 7.3 
2019 16.5% 8.6 

 
For employers in surplus or where contributions were being stepped up the % of pay rate 
may have been lower than the primary contribution rate.  The aggregate contribution 
amounts were higher in 2017/18 due to pre-payment of secondary contribution amounts by 
some employers. The recovery period quoted above is the maximum used at the 2016 
valuation. Individual employers may have a period less than this in line with the FSS.  

In addition, employers pay contributions to meet additional strains arising on early 
retirement or due to increases in benefits. Members also paid contributions as required by 
the Regulations. 

Key results from the previous valuation as at 31 March 2016: 
The Fund's assets were £2,321.2M and the past service liabilities were £2,850.5M, 
corresponding to a shortfall of £529.3M and a funding level of 81%. 

The aggregate employer future service (primary) contribution rate was 16.7% of 
pensionable pay. 

Financial development 

The table below compares the key financial assumptions 
made at the previous valuation with what actually happened 
and the corresponding assumptions for the 2019 valuation. 

 

2016 
assumption 

2016-2019 
experience 

2019 
assumption 

Investment 
returns 

4.5% pa 8.9% pa 4.25% pa 

CPI 
increases 

2.0% pa 2.1% pa(2) 2.1% pa 

Pay growth 3.5% pa(1) 2.6% pa 3.1% pa(1) 

 
(1) plus a promotional pay scale  

(2) average figure, actual increases were 1.0%, 3.0% and 2.4% 

 

P
age 15



 

6 

Notable changes since the previous valuation  
 

Changes affecting funding are briefly described below: 

 Benefits / membership 

Responsibility for paying full CPI pension increases on GMPs passing to the Fund for members 
reaching State Pension Age (SPA) between 6 April 2016 and 5 April 2021.  

The Government being denied leave to appeal the McCloud/Sargeant judgement followed by the 
Ministerial Statement on 15 July 2019, which is expected to lead to an extension of the final 
salary underpin in the LGPS.  

Changes in the discount rate and longevity assumptions on which many of the Scheme-wide 
actuarial factors, including early and late retirement factors, are based. 

 Investment strategy 

A new investment strategy was implemented shortly after the 2016 valuation. This was 
anticipated when setting the discount rate at the 2016 valuation, and allowed for in full when 
setting the discount rate for the 2019 valuation. 

 Uncertainties over GMPs and benefit improvements 

There are a number of uncertainties over the future benefit structure of the LGPS, including GMP 
equalisation and indexation after 5 April 2021, the cost management process, and the remedy 
that may be agreed in relation to the McCloud/Sargeant case. Further explanation of these 
uncertainties is set out in Section c of the Further Information Section. 

Shorthand 

GMP: Guaranteed Minimum Pensions.  These 
accrued to members between 1978 and 1997 due 
to the LGPS being contracted-out of the State 
Earnings Related Pension Scheme. 

McCloud/Sargeant: Court cases involving the 
Judges' and Firefighters' Pension Schemes 
respectively which found that transitional 
protections granted to members within 10 years of 
pension age as part of the reforms to those 
schemes in 2015 constituted illegal age 
discrimination. 

Cost management: The process of checking the 
cost of public sector schemes against a base cost, 
and making changes if the current assessed cost 
of the scheme is higher or lower than this base 
cost. 

P
age 16



 

7 

Membership data and benefits 
Membership numbers are shown graphically below. Further details can be 
found in Section b of the Further Information section of this report. 

 

The deferred membership numbers exclude members who had yet to 
decide whether to take a refund of contributions. 

We have carried out some general checks to satisfy ourselves that the 
information used for this valuation is broadly consistent compared with that 
used for the previous valuation and (where relevant) that shown in the 
Fund's Annual Report and Accounts. 

However, the valuation results rely on the accuracy of the information 
supplied.  

The value of liabilities is influenced by the average age of the members.  The 
chart below shows average ages weighted by pension amounts. 

 

Members' benefits are set out in the Regulations. Different benefits (and 
retirement ages) apply to membership before 1 April 2008, between 1 April 
2008 and 31 March 2014, and after 31 March 2014. 
 

Our valuation calculations make no allowance for: 
 indexation/equalisation of GMPs beyond the arrangements 

already in place 

 any discretionary benefits 

 any future changes to State Pension Age 

17
,1

85

17
,7

30 20
,6

67

12
,4

45

15
,0

65

17
,4

11

16
,4

36

17
,4

09

19
,5

99

2013 2016 2019 2013 2016 2019 2013 2016 2019

Active
Members

Deferred
members

Pensioner 
Members

48
.5

49
.3

49
.7

48
.3

48
.8

49
.1

70
.4

70
.4

70
.8

2013 2016 2019 2013 2016 2019 2013 2016 2019

Active
Members

Deferred
members

Pensioner 
Members

P
age 17



 

8 

Funding objectives 
The Administering Authority's funding objective is to hold assets at least equal in value to the 
funding target (past service liabilities). 

To calculate the past service liabilities and the cost to the employers of future benefit accrual, the 
benefits paid out by the Fund are estimated for each year into the future. The estimated benefit 
payments are then 'discounted back' to the valuation date using an agreed rate of interest known as 
the discount rate. 

The chart below shows the cashflow pattern for a typical LGPS fund (based on past service 
benefits).  Most cashflows are linked to future levels of salary growth and inflation. 

 

 

 

The discount rate 
The Funding Strategy Statement describes the 
approach used to set the funding target and 
hence the discount rates. The Administering 
Authority adopts different discount rates 
depending on employers' circumstances 
including the likelihood of exit and what would 
happen to the liabilities on exit. 

Prudence in the valuation is achieved 
through the use of discount rates which 
have a materially better than evens chance 
of being achieved by the Fund’s assets. 
Information on the level of prudence (or 
risk) in the funding strategy is contained in 
the Fund’s Funding Strategy Statement and 
we have advised on this previously. 

 

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50 55 60 65 70 75 80
Years into the future

E
xp

ec
te

d
 c

as
h

fl
ow

s 
(£

M
)

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50 55 60 65 70 75 80
Years into the future

E
xp

ec
te

d
 c

as
h

fl
ow

s 
(£

M
)

P
age 18



 

9 

At the 2019 valuation there are 4 funding targets: 

 the secure long term scheduled and subsumption bodies funding target, which assumes 
indefinite future investment in assets similar to the Fund's holdings at the valuation date 
(allowing for any known or planned changes to the long-term investment strategy as 
appropriate). 

 the intermediate funding target: for colleges, which are deemed to be less likely to exit than the 
orphan admission bodies but which do not have a subsumption commitment and are deemed to 
be less secure than taxpayer-backed employers.  

 the ongoing orphan funding target: for admission bodies whose liabilities would be orphan on 
exit, the discount rate has regard to the possibility that participation may cease and that the exit 
valuation would assume a low risk investment portfolio made up of long dated Government 
bonds (of appropriate nature and term) at cessation.  

 the low risk funding target: for "orphaned" liabilities that relate to employers which have already 
exited the fund. 

An explanation of scheduled bodies, orphan bodies and subsumption bodies is given in the 
Glossary. 

 

Investment strategy 
The Administering Authority's investment strategy is 
set out in its Investment Strategy Statement. In 
summary the current strategy is to invest 65% of the 
Fund's assets in growth assets, predominantly 
equities, to generate investment returns. The 
Administering Authority's investment strategy 
includes investment in property, infrastructure and 
private debt to achieve diversification, with 
investment of 35% in fixed income or index linked 
bonds. 

The assets as at the valuation date are described in 
Section d of the Further Information Section of this 
report. 

 

P
age 19



 

10 

Summary of assumptions  

 

The table below summarises the key assumptions agreed with the Administering Authority at this and the previous valuation. The 
assumptions are used to calculate the past service liabilities, cost of future benefit accrual and contributions for the recovery plan. 
Further details of all of the assumptions are set out in Section e of the Further Information Section of this report. 

 

Assumptions  Previous valuation This valuation 

In-service discount rate  

Scheduled and subsumption body funding target 
Intermediate funding target 
Ongoing orphan body funding target 
Low risk funding target  

Average in-service discount rate 

 

4.50% pa 
N/A 

4.50% pa 
2.10% pa 

4.50% pa 

 

4.25% pa 
4.25% pa 
4.25% pa 
1.30% pa 

4.25% pa 
Left-service discount rate  

Scheduled and subsumption body funding target 
Intermediate funding target 
Orphan body funding target 
Low risk funding target  

Average left-service discount rate 

 

4.50% pa 
N/A 

2.50% pa 
2.10% pa 

4.44% pa 

 

4.25% pa 
3.80% pa 
1.60% pa 
1.30% pa 

4.16% pa 
Rate of revaluation of pension accounts and 
pension increases (on pension in excess of GMPs) 

2.00% 2.10% pa 

Pensionable pay increases 3.50% pa 3.10% pa 

Post-retirement mortality assumption – base table 
(for retirements in normal health) 

SAPS S2P tables with scaling of 95% for 
males and 100% for females 

SAPS S2N tables with scalings for actives 
and deferreds of 110% (males) and 105% 

(females), and for pensioners of 100% 

Post-retirement mortality assumption – future 
improvements  

CMI 2014 core projections with long-term 
improvement rate of 1.5% p.a. 

CMI 2018 projections with SK=7.5, A=0.0 and 
long-term improvement rate of 1.5% p.a. 

P
age 20



 

11 

The longevity assumptions have been updated to reflect recent research, a Fund membership postcode analysis and the Fund's pensioner mortality 
experience using Aon's Demographic HorizonsTM longevity model.  

We show below the assumed life expectancies for current members resulting from these mortality assumptions, and the equivalent figures from the 
previous valuation. 

Assumed life expectancy at age 65 Member aged 65  Member aged 45 

 This valuation Previous valuation This valuation Previous valuation 

Men 
Women 

22.1 
24.1 

23.1 
24.8 

23.1 
25.6 

25.3 
27.1 

In our view these assumptions are appropriate for the purposes of the valuation and setting Employer contributions to the Fund.  

  

P
age 21



 

12 

Valuation method 
As for the previous valuation, the past service liabilities have been calculated using the projected unit method. This method, with a one year control 
period, has also been used to calculate the cost of future benefits building up for most employers.  The attained age method has been used for 
some employers who do not admit new employees to the Fund. The methods which apply to individual employers or groups of employers are set 
out in other advice papers.  

Shared risks 
Funding gains or losses arising from the following risks are pooled across all employers in the Fund: 

Assumptions  Method  

Cash sum on death in service  Shared in proportion to the payroll of active members 

Dependants' pensions on death in service Shared in proportion to the expected cost of dependants' pensions using the projected unit method 

Ill health retirement Shared in proportion to the expected cost of ill health retirements using the projected unit method 
(Tiers 1 & 2 only) 

 

P
age 22



 

13 

Past service results  
A comparison of the Fund's assets with the past service 
liabilities calculated using the assumptions described in 
the previous section is set out below. 
 

 (£M) 

Value of past service benefits for: 

   Active members 1,195.2 

   Deferred members 462.0 

   Pensioner members 1,520.3 

Value of liabilities 3,177.5 

Value of assets 2,982.0 

Past service surplus/(shortfall) (195.5) 

Funding Level 94% 

 

The above results exclude any allowance for past 
service McCloud costs. 

The Fund has moved from a past service shortfall of £529.3M at March 2016 to a past service 
shortfall of £195.5M at 31 March 2019 

The chart below shows the key reasons for the £M change in funding position, (the grey bars to 
the right of the chart are sources of profit to the Fund and the blue bars to the left are sources of 
loss). 

 

(33)

136

(150)

96

(9)

21

347

(74)

Membership movements and other items

Profit from change in demographic assumptions

Profit from change in financial assumptions

Contribution profit

Pension increase & revaluation profit

Pay increase profit

Investment profit

Interest on shortfall

P
age 23



 

14 

Addressing the shortfall 
We have agreed with the Administering Authority that for individual employers the surplus in excess of a 
105% funding level will be removed by reducing contributions payable, and shortfall will be removed by 
payment of additional contributions by the employers over a range of different recovery periods not 
exceeding 18 years for a shortfall and 21 years in the case of a surplus.  

Across the Fund as a whole, the contributions required to remove shortfall over a recovery period of 18 
years from 1 April 2020 are £12.5M pa increasing at 3.1% pa, equivalent to approximately 3.0% pa of 
pensionable pay assuming the membership remains broadly stable and and pay increases and other 
assumptions are as assumed.  

In practice, different recovery periods apply to individual employers or groups of employers in the Fund. 
Contributions payable by each employer or group are set out in the Rates and Adjustments Certificate and 
reflect each employer's recovery period and funding position.  

Secondary contributions allow for interest on the employer's surplus or shortfall between 31 March 2019 
and 1 April 2020 as well as the difference between contributions payable and the cost of benefit accrual 
over 2019/20, and also include an adjustment for the potential impact of legislative uncertainties 
(McCloud/cost management).    

For some employers, contribution increases/reductions will be phased in over a number of years (or 'steps') 
as permitted by the Funding Strategy Statement in order to deliver greater stability of contributions. 

Further, for some employers, they will be permitted to pay all or part of their shortfall contributions in 
respect of the period 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2023 in one lump sum in April 2020. 

Shorthand 

Pensionable pay: as defined in the 
Regulations in relation to post-2014 
membership. 

Recovery period: the period over which 
any surplus or shortfall is eliminated.   

Secondary contribution: the adjustment to 
the primary rate, expressed as a % of 
pensionable pay or as a £ amount, which 
reflects the specific circumstances of the 
Fund, this includes: 

 the potential impact of the legislative 
uncertainties outlined in Further 
Information section c 

 contributions required to restore the 
funding level of the Fund as a whole to 
100% over the recovery period, if the 
membership is broadly stable and pay 
increases are as assumed. 

P
age 24



 

15 

Future service results  
The table below shows the aggregate cost to employers at the 
valuation date of benefits members will earn in future (the 
aggregate primary contribution rate) based on the funding 
assumptions. Contributions at the aggregate primary rate 
would be appropriate if the Fund had no surplus or shortfall. 
 

 % Pensionable 
pay  

Value of benefits building up 
(before McCloud/Cost Management) 

23.5% 

Expected cost of death in service cash 
sum  

0.2% 

Allowance for administration expenses  0.5% 

Less member contributions  (6.3%) 

2019 cost to employers (primary 
contribution rate) 

17.9% 

 
 

The primary contribution rate has increased from 16.7% of pensionable pay to 17.9% of 
pensionable pay. 

The chart below shows the key reasons for the change in the primary contribution rate. 
The grey bars to the right are sources of increase in the primary rate and the blue bars to 
the left are sources of reduction.  

 

 

In addition, we have calculated an employer cost of 0.9% of pay for McCloud/Cost Management – see Section c of the Further Information Section 

 

2.3%

-1.1%

0.1%

0.0%

-0.1%

Change in financial assumptions

Change in demographic assumptions

Change in expense allowance

Change in employee cbn rate

Change in average age and miscellaneous

P
age 25



 

16 

Risks and uncertainties 
Key risks which could affect the Fund's future cashflows and funding 
position, include: 

 Funding risk –that the value placed on the past service liabilities is set 
too low and contributions paid into the Fund prove insufficient to meet 
the payments as they fall due.  

 Employer risk – that an employer is no longer able to meet its liabilities 
in the Fund, e.g. due to insolvency  

 Investment risks – that investment returns are lower than allowed for in 
the valuation, and also that the assets are volatile and move out of line 
with the liabilities, so the funding position is not stable. 

 Longevity risk – that Fund members live for longer than expected and 
pensions are therefore paid for longer resulting in a higher cost for the 
Fund. 

 Inflation risk – that inflation is higher than expected, resulting in higher 
pension increases (and payments to pensioners) than allowed for in the 
valuation. 

 Options for members (or other parties) – the risk that members exercise 
options resulting in unanticipated extra costs. For example, members 
could exchange less of their pension for a cash lump sum than allowed 
for in the valuation. 

 Legislative/Regulatory risk –that changes to general and LGPS specific 
regulations, taxation, national changes to pension requirements, or 
employment law result in an increased cost of administration, 
investment or funding for benefits. We have made explicit allowance for 
known uncertainties as set out in section c of the Further Information.  

 Covid-19 related risks – the current outbreak of the novel Coronavirus 
Covid-19 may impact adversely on the investments, on the ability of the 
Fund to realise future investment returns and on the Fund employers’ 
covenant. (We have commented further on the impact of recent adverse 
market movements within the “Final comments” section of this report.). 

 Other risks – issues relating to climate change and other environmental 
risks as well as long-term uncertainty around geopolitical, societal and 
technological shifts may also impact on the funding, investments and 
Fund employers' covenant. 

The chart below shows the approximate impact of a number of one-off step 
changes on the Fund's funding position (all other elements of the valuation 
basis being unchanged): 

These are not intended to be "worst case scenarios" and could occur in 
combination rather than in isolation. Conversely, in practice, some of these 
changes may be partially offset by other changes, e.g, a reduction in the 
expected investment return or inflation might lead to a compensating 
change in asset values, or a change in asset values might lead to a 
compensating change in expected investment returns. 

The Funding Strategy Statement sets out the key actions taken by the 
Administering Authority to mitigate the above risks. 

91%

82%

78%

78%

86%

94%

What if…pensionable pay increases by 1% pa more 
than assumed

What if… equities fall by 25%

What if… inflation assumption increases by 1% pa

What if… the discount rate falls by 1% pa

What if… life expectancy increases by 2 years

Funding ratio

P
age 26



 

17 

Employer contribution rates  
Contributions are set for employers, or groups of employers that take into account a number of 
factors including: 

 Regulation 62 – which requires the Fund Actuary to have regard to 

- The existing and prospective liabilities 
- The desirability of maintaining as nearly a constant a primary contribution rate as 

possible 
- The Administering Authority's Funding Strategy Statement, and 
- The requirement to secure the solvency of the Fund and the long-term cost efficiency of 

the Scheme, so far as relating to the Fund. 

 The results of the valuation. 

 Any one-off contributions paid. 

 Discussions between the Fund Actuary, the Administering Authority and employers, 
including the Administering Authority's view of the affordability of contributions, where 
relevant. 

 The employer's (or group's) membership profile and funding level and, where relevant, 
assumptions and recovery periods specific to the employer's circumstances. 

We have agreed with the Administering Authority that increases in contribution rates for some 
employers can be phased in over periods not exceeding 6 years as set out in the Funding 
Strategy Statement.  

For certain employers which are in surplus, it has been agreed with the Administering Authority 
that the employer may use part of the surplus to support the payment of contributions to the 
Fund at a rate below the primary (future service) contribution rate. 

 

 

Projections 

We estimate that, by the next valuation, these 
contributions will have increased the funding level to 
about 95%, assuming the experience of the Fund 
between the two valuation dates is in line with the 
assumptions and the assumptions underlying the 
funding targets remain unchanged. 

 

 

P
age 27



 

18 

The aggregate Employer contributions certified for 
the 3 years from 1 April 2020 are as follows: 

Year 
from 1 
April 

% of 
pensionable 

pay 

Plus total 
contribution 
amount (£M) 

2020 19.0% 34.0 

2021 19.0% 4.4 

2022 19.0% 4.5 

 

  The % of pensionable pay contributions shown in the above table are an average (weighted 
by pensionable pay) of the amounts certified for individual employers in each year.  

 The annual contribution amounts are the aggregate of the additional contribution amounts 
certified for individual employers in each year. 

 Payments to meet additional costs arising from early retirements and other increases in 
benefits are payable in addition. 

 At the end of the period shown above, the annual contribution amounts for each employer or 
group are anticipated to increase by approximately 3.1% pa until the end of the relevant 
recovery period. Thereafter, aggregate contributions are anticipated to be in line with the 
future service contribution rate of that employer, subject to review at future actuarial 
valuations. 

 Durham County Council are paying all or part of their shortfall contributions for the three 
years in a single payment in April 2020. 

 

 

 

P
age 28



 

19 

Final comments  
Developments since the valuation date 
 Market movements 

We estimate that over the period between the valuation date and the date of signature of this report, the 
return on the Fund’s assets is likely to have fallen short of the assumed return of 4.25% p.a., with asset 
values having declined during March 2020 due to the emerging COVID-19 crisis. 

It is not yet clear to what extent there may be a compensating fall in liabilities through changes to 
discount rates (net of assumed inflation) but our view is that discount rate increases are unlikely to fully 
offset the effect of asset falls for employers subject to the scheduled and subsumption body funding 
target, i.e. overall the funding level is likely to have reduced. Whilst gilt yields have experienced 
considerable volatility in recent weeks, it is likely that the reduction in funding level will have been more 
significant for employers subject to a funding target where the discount rate is linked to gilt yields (i.e. 
the ongoing orphan funding target, the low risk funding target and the intermediate funding targets). 
Overall, we believe that market movements in the period since the valuation date will have led to a 
reduction in the funding level of the Fund as a whole and the impact on employers’ future service 
(primary) contribution rate will vary between employers depending, among other things, on which 
funding target the employer is subject to. 

All the above means that if we were carrying out the valuation based on current conditions rather than 
as at 31 March 2019 (and assuming an unchanged level of risk in the funding strategy) it is likely that 
we would be recommending somewhat higher employer contributions. However bearing in mind the 
overall level of prudence in the funding strategy, the long-term nature of the Fund and the fact that a 
high percentage of the liabilities are backed by employers with tax-raising powers (or by employers in 
the academy sector where there is a Department for Education (DfE) guarantee), our opinion is that 
certifying contributions based on market conditions at the valuation date, as has been the practice at 
previous valuations, remains appropriate. As market conditions continue to evolve, consideration could 
be given to revisiting contributions for employers that the Administering Authority believe are likely to 
becoming an exiting employer under Regulation 64(4) in advance of the next valuation. 

 

 

The key results from this 
valuation are: 
The Fund's assets were £2,982.0M 
and the past service liabilities 
£3,177.5M, corresponding to a 
shortfall of £195.5M and a funding 
level of 94%. 

The primary contribution rate for the 
Fund as a whole is 17.9% of 
pensionable pay. 

An allowance of 0.9% was added to 
contribution rates for the costs of 
McCloud/cost management. 

If the shortfall is removed over 18 
years from 1 April 2020, the 
aggregate total employer 
contributions needed would be 
equivalent to 21.8%* of Pensionable 
Pay until 31 March 2038, reverting to 
18.8% of pensionable pay thereafter.  

* if the membership remains broadly 
stable and pay increases and other 
assumptions are as assumed. 

P
age 29



 

20 

 Employers joining or exiting since the valuation date 

Contributions for employers joining since 31 March 2019 will be advised separately.   

A revised Rates and Adjustments Certificate will have been prepared as necessary for employers 
exiting the Fund since 31 March 2019 where this has been requested by the Administering Authority. 
Where a revised Rates and Adjustments Certificate has not yet been produced for such employers, the 
employer has been included in the Rates and Adjustments Certificate amended to this report but with 
zero contributions in anticipation of the revised certificates being issued. 

Monitoring the Fund 
In the light of the volatility inherent in situations where investments do not match liabilities, the Administering 
Authority monitors the financial position on a regular basis. It will also consider monitoring the position of 
individual employers, particularly those subject to the ongoing orphan funding target and those which may 
exit the Fund before 1 April 2023.  Where appropriate and permitted by the Regulations, contributions for 
those employers may be amended before the next valuation due as at 31 March 2022. 

P
age 30



 

21 

 

Further information 
  

 

P
age 31



 

22 a 

Legal framework 
  

 

This report was commissioned by and is produced solely for the use of the Administering Authority.  

It is produced in compliance with: 

 Regulation 62 of the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013. 

 The terms of the agreement between the Administering Authority and Aon Hewitt Limited, on the understanding that 
it is solely for the benefit of the addressee. 

This report, and the work relating to it, complies with Technical Actuarial Standard 100: Principles for Technical Actuarial 
Work ('TAS 100') and Technical Actuarial Standard 300: Pensions ('TAS 300'). 

Unless prior written consent has been given by Aon Hewitt Limited, this report should not be disclosed to or discussed 
with anyone else unless they have a statutory right to see it.  

We permit the Administering Authority to release copies of this report to the following parties only: 

 Any employer which contributes to the Fund. 

 The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government. 

We also permit the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government to pass our report to the Government 
Actuary's Department in connection with their statutory duties. None of the above bodies has our permission to pass our 
report on to any other parties. 

Notwithstanding such consent, Aon Hewitt Limited does not assume responsibility to anyone other than the addressee 
of this report. 

Where, at the request of the Administering Authority, we have consented to their releasing a copy of this report to 
certain specified parties and/or via certain communication routes, we consent on the basis that there is no duty of care 
established toward, and Aon Hewitt Limited disclaims any responsibility or liability arising from, any person having 

It is a legal requirement to carry out a full valuation as at 31 March 2019 

P
age 32



 

23 a 

access to the report either directly from Durham County Council, indirectly from a third party or through any other 
means.  

No recipients of the report other than the Administering Authority are permitted to reproduce, distribute or communicate 
any part of this report to any other party. Any third party using this report does so entirely at its own risk and no third 
party is entitled to rely on this report for any purpose whatsoever.  

No decisions should be taken on the basis of this report by any party other than our client, Durham County Council, and 
nothing in this report removes the need for readers to take proper advice in relation to their specific circumstances. 

  

 

P
age 33



 

 

24 

 

b 

Membership data  
 The results in this report are based on membership data which is summarised below. 

Active 
members  

Number Average 
age* 

Total pensionable 
salaries (2014 

scheme definition) 
(£000 pa) 

Total pre 
2014 pension 

(£000 pa) 

Total pre 
2014 accrued 

lump sum 
(£000) 

Total post 
2014 pension 

(£000pa) 

2016 Male 5,255 45.5 128,615 23,480 47,115 4,817 

Female 12,475 44.9 214,698 31,952 58,673 8,028 

Total 17,730 45.0 343,313 55,432 105,788 12,845 

2019 Male 5,834 45.6 140,439 19,943 34,025 11,786 

Female 14,833 45.3 248,699 28,270 42,372 20,642 

Total 20,667 45.4 389,138 48,213 76,398 32,428 

 

Notes: The average ages shown in these tables are unweighted. 

 Pensionable pay is over the year to the valuation date, and includes annualised pay for new entrants during the year. 
 Actual part-time pay is included for part-timers. 

 Post 2014 pension figures include the April 2019 (2016) revaluation. 

 

 

 

P
age 34



 

 

25 

 

b 

Deferred 
members  

Number Average age* Total pension  
(£000 pa) 

Total pre 2014 accrued 
lump sum (£000) 

2016 Male 4,507 44.7 11,172 25,079 

Female 10,558 45.5 16,594 34,043 

Total 15,065 45.3 27,766 59,122 

2019 Male 5,120 45.2 11,371 21,609 

Female 12,291 46.5 18,775 31,268 

Total 17,411 46.1 30,146 52,877 

Notes: Averages ages are unweighted. 

 The deferred pension amounts shown above are at the valuation date and include the April 2019 revaluation. 

 Included in the above, there were 1,604 (1,101 in addition in 2016) members who are yet to decide whether to take a 
 transfer / refund of contributions . 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 35



 

 

26 

 

b 

Pensioner members Number Average age* Total pension (£000 pa) Average pension(£ pa) 

2016 Male 6,818 70.7 51,039 7,486 

Female 8,079 70.5 28,325 3,506 

Dependants 2,519 74.1 7,219 2,866 

Total 17,409 71.1 86,583 5,162 

2019 Male 7,221 71.2 56,238 7,788 

Female 9,498 70.4 36,040 3,795 

Dependants 2,880 73.9 8,361 2,903 

Total 19,599 71.2 100,639 5,135 

Notes:  The pension amounts shown above include the increase awarded in April of the appropriate year.  

 Average ages are unweighted. 

 The dependants data includes 108 (121 in addition in 2016) members in receipt of a children’s’ pension.  

Section c below sets out the approach to dealing with current legislative uncertainties relating to members' benefits in 
this valuation. 

  

 

P
age 36



 

 

27 

 

c 

Uncertainties  
 

 

Allowance for McCloud, Cost Managment and GMP equalisation/indexation 

 
Background on McCloud/Sargeant 
Following a review of public service pension schemes by the Independent Public Services Pensions Commission led by 
Lord Hutton (the Hutton Report) UK public service pension schemes were reformed with effect from 1 April 2015 (1 April 
2014 for the LGPS in England and Wales), with the objective of reducing the overall cost to the taxpayer and putting 
schemes on a more sustainable footing. 

Reforms common to all the main public service pension schemes included: later retirement ages (State Pension Age in 
most cases), benefits based on career average earnings (so no longer being linked to 'final pay' at retirement), and 
tiered member contribution rates. The reforms also included transitional protections for members within 10 years of their 
Normal Pension Age on 1 April 2012. Generally, this was implemented by allowing those members to retain 
membership of the 'pre-reformed' schemes, whilst all other members were moved into the new arrangements (for a 
number of the schemes this was subject to a “tapering” approach for members who were close to the 10-year cut-off).  

In relation to the LGPS in England and Wales, all members joined the new 2014 Scheme for membership after 1 April 
2014, but members within 10 years of normal retirement were given an underpin (or 'better of both') promise, so their 
benefits earned after 1 April 2014 would be at least as valuable in terms of amount and when they could be drawn, as if 
they had remained in the 2008 Scheme. 

In December 2018 the Government lost a Court of Appeal case (the 'McCloud/Sargeant' judgement) which ruled that the 
transitional protection arrangements, put in place when the judges' and firefighters' pension schemes were reformed, 
amounted to illegal age discrimination. The Government was subsequently denied leave to appeal the Court of Appeal’s 
decision on 27 June 2019.  

While the judgement was not in relation to the LGPS, the Government announced in a Written Ministerial Statement on 
15 July 2019 "… as ‘transitional protection’ was offered to members of all the main public service pension schemes, the 
Government believes that the difference in treatment will need to be remedied across all those schemes". The remedy is 
likely to differ by scheme depending on the transitional protections adopted.  P

age 37

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/independent-public-service-pensions-commission-final-report-by-lord-hutton
https://www.judiciary.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/lord-chancellor-v-mcloud-and-ors-judgment.pdf
https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2019-07-15/HCWS1725/


 

 

28 

 

c 

In line with guidance issued by the Scheme Advisory Board (SAB) of the LGPS in England and Wales, we have 
discussed and agreed with the Administering Authority the allowance which should be made in this valuation for 
possible additional liabilities arising from the McCloud case. 

It should be noted that since we provided our advice to the Administering Authority on the allowance to be made in this 
valuation, case management discussions have commenced for both the judges’ and firefighters’ schemes, as well as 
police via a similar case – the Aarons case which had previously been stayed behind the McCloud/Sargeant 
judgement.  However, as at the date of this report, we do not have confirmed details of any benefit changes for the 
LGPS.  

Cost management and McCloud/Sargeant 
The design of the new public service schemes also included a cost control mechanism which was intended to protect 
employers from rising pension costs due to demographic and other factors.  This mechanism includes both a floor and a 
cap on employer contributions and requires that if the cost, assessed by GAD in line with assumptions set by HM 
Treasury, is more than 2% of pay above or below a defined target level, member contributions and/or benefits must be 
amended to bring the cost for employers back to the target level.   

The LGPS in England and Wales has a separate, additional cost management process which considers total costs and 
may recommend action if the cost has changed.  Most assumptions are the same as those adopted for the HM Treasury 
process but there are some differences. We believe that an informal arrangement is in place such that any changes 
agreed as part of the SAB cost management process could be allowed for in determining whether any action is required 
in relation to the HMT process. 

The cost management process considered changes in the cost of the LGPS between those assessed when the new 
benefit designs were implemented and 31 March 2016, and as the floor was breached it was expected that 
improvements to benefits or member contributions would be implemented with effect from 1 April 2019, and taken into 
account in this valuation when setting employer contributions from 1 April 2020.    

However, following the Court of Appeal judgement in the McCloud case, the cost management process was paused in 
January 2019.  It is not yet clear what the effect on the liabilities will be, but we believe the outcome will be one or other 
of the following: 

 The McCloud changes mean the cost management floor has no longer been breached (in which case the additional 
liabilities are simply those due under the McCloud remedy) 

P
age 38



 

 

29 

 

c 

 After allowing for the McCloud changes the cost management floor has still been breached (in which case the 
additional liabilities will be a combination of those due under McCloud and those that would be agreed under the re-
started cost management process) 

The McCloud changes, and their effect on the cost management process, and hence on the benefits and cost of the 
LGPS, are currently uncertain. However, any change is likely to increase the benefits payable from the scheme, and 
therefore the cost of the scheme.  We set out below the allowance made for potential increases in benefits at this 
valuation as set out in previous advice papers and summarised in the Funding Strategy Statement. 

It should be noted that since our calculations were carried out, in December 2019 the Fire Brigades’ Union announced 
that it was considering mounting a legal challenge to Government’s decision to pause the cost management process 
and to press for any cost management changes to be in addition to any remedy for McCloud/Sargeant. Whilst this 
presents the possibility of additional costs falling on employers, given the uncertainty over whether such action will be 
taken and whether it will be successful we have not revisited the allowance made in this valuation for McCloud and cost 
management. 

Allowance for McCloud/Cost Management  
Our advice, given in October 2019, showed the results of our calculation of the proposed allowance for McCloud. This 
calculation was based on the scheduled body funding assumptions and the following additional assumptions: 

 the final salary underpin is extended to all members who were active members as at 1 April 2014 

 as for the existing underpin, the underpin applies only to members' benefits on retirement (i.e. not on withdrawal 
from service before retirement, and not to the benefits of spouses or dependants) 

 the underpin continues to apply for service until at least 31 March 2023 (ie till the end of the period covered by the 
Rates and Adjustments Certificate) for affected members 

The past service cost has been converted to a % of pay calculated across the Fund as a whole using an 18 year 
recovery period. 

It should be noted that the calculated cost is particularly sensitive to the real salary increase assumption (and to a lesser 
extent the withdrawal assumption) which was previously advised on for funding purposes and not for the purpose of 
estimating the possible cost of the McCloud judgement. 

P
age 39



 

 

30 

 

c 

In addition, we recommended that the minimum allowance made for McCloud and cost management should be an 
increase of 0.9% of pay in the employer contribution rate (the average increase to employer costs that had been 
expected to apply under the cost management process if no McCloud remedy had been required). 

We allowed for the same adjustment to individual employer contributions as calculated for the Fund as a whole, 
expressed as a % of pay. The adjustment has been set to be 0.9% of pay. 

Since our advice was given and the calculations carried out, the case management discussions which have taken place 
have led to the suggestion that for the LGPS the changes may mean: 

 the application of the new underpin is restricted to fewer members than we have allowed for, i.e. only those who 
joined pre 2012 but of any age 

 the application of the new underpin is time limited and may not apply to all membership until the end of the period 
covered by the Rates and Adjustments Certificate in 31 March 2023 (although the exact time period is subject to 
considerable uncertainty)  

 the underpin is extended to benefits on withdrawal and to dependants, including possibly transfers out, which goes 
beyond what has been allowed for in the valuation  

 there is a need to ensure the revised underpin is checked for all retirements since 2014 to avoid ”reverse 
discrimination”, again going beyond what has been allowed for in the valuation 

As this information became available after the majority of contributions had been advised to employers, and there is still 
no certainty in relation to any benefit changes for the LGPS, we have not sought to review the allowance made. In 
general, if the underpin applies to pre 2012 joiners rather than pre 2014 joiners then this would reduce the cost, but 
extending the underpin to benefits on withdrawal, spouses and transfers would increase the cost, and it is not clear what 
the net effect would be. We will advise the Administering Authority of the expected effect of any changes once there is 
greater clarity on the precise details of those changes, and on whether contributions for employers should be revisited 
before the next formal valuation as at 31 March 2022, assuming this can be done within the regulatory provisions.   

GMP indexation and equalisation 
Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) is a portion of pension that was accrued by individuals who were contracted out 
of the State Second Pension between 6 April 1978 and 5 April 1997. The rate at which GMP was accrued, and the date 
it is payable, is different for men and women, meaning there is an inequality for male and female members who have 
GMP. This was a consequence of the State Pension itself being unequal at the time. 

P
age 40



 

 

31 

 

c 

Prior to 6 April 2016 the LGPS was not required to pay any pension increases on GMPs accrued before April 1988 and 
was only required to pay limited increases on GMPs accrued after 1988 (CPI inflation capped at 3% p.a.). In return, the 
Additional Pension (AP) element of the State Pension included top-up payments to pensioners to give inflation 
protection on the GMP element where this was not provided by the LGPS.  However, reforms were made to the State 
Pension system in April 2016 which scrapped AP and therefore removed the facility for central government to fully index 
the combined pension through AP. 

In March 2016 the government introduced an ‘interim solution’ for public service schemes to pay full inflationary 
increases on GMPs for those reaching State Pension Age (SPA) between 6 April 2016 and 5 December 2018 to ensure 
members continued to receive full inflationary increases on their combined public service scheme and State pensions. 
This was allowed for in the 2016 valuation of the Fund. In January 2018 the interim solution was extended to individuals 
reaching SPA on or before 5 April 2021. Further, the Government has indicated that it is committed to continuing to 
compensate all members of public service pension schemes reaching SPA after 5 April 2021.  

On 26 October 2018 the High Court ruled in the Lloyds Bank case that equalisation for the effect of unequal GMPs is 
required. The ruling confirmed that trustees have a duty “to equalise benefits for men and women so as to alter the 
result which is at present produced in relation to GMPs".  HM Treasury has, however, gone on record since the Lloyds 
judgement to say, "Public sector schemes already have a method to equalise guaranteed minimum pension benefits, 
which is why we will not have to change our method as a result of this judgment." We understand that the Government 
is exploring various options, including conversion of GMPs to Scheme benefits so there is still some uncertainty over 
how equalisation for GMPs will be achieved in the LGPS. 

Allowance for GMP indexation 
The results of this valuation allow for the extension of the interim solution to those reaching State Pension Age by 5 April 
2021 as already required under legislation. However, they do not allow for the impact of potentially extending this interim 
solution indefinitely, providing full pension increases on GMPs for members reaching State Pension Age after 5 April 
2021. Based on approximate calculations, at a whole of fund level the impact of providing full pension increases on 
GMPs for those members reaching State Pension Age after 5 April 2021 is an increase in past service liabilities of 
between 0.1% to 0.2% across the Fund as a whole. 

  

P
age 41



 

 

32 

 

d 

Assets  
  

  

The audited accounts for the Fund for the year ended 31 
March 2019 show the assets were £2,982.0M. 

The chart shows how the assets of £2,982.0M is broadly 
invested. 

 

  

 

P
age 42



 

 

33 

 

e 

Assumptions 
  

 Financial assumptions used to value the liabilities and assess contribution rate 

In-service discount rate 
Scheduled body / subsumption funding target 
Intermediate funding target 
Ongoing Orphan funding target 
Low risk funding target  

 
4.25% 
4.25% 
4.25% 
1.30% 

Left-service discount rate 
Scheduled body / subsumption funding target 
Intermediate funding target 
Ongoing Orphan funding target  
Low risk funding target 

 
4.25% 
3.80% 
1.60% 
1.30% 

Rate of pensionable pay increases (service up to 31 March 2014 only) 
(in addition to promotional increases) 

3.10% 

Rate of CPI price inflation 2.10% 

Rate of revaluation of pension accounts  

Rate of pension increases 
- on non GMPs and GMP for those reaching SPA between 1 April 2016 

and 5 April 2021 
- on post 88 GMPs 

 
 
2.10% 
1.90% 

Administration expenses 0.5% of pay 

 

P
age 43



 

 

34 

 

e 

Demographic assumptions used to value the liabilities and assess contribution rate 

Pre-retirement base mortality Males: 40% of Standard SAPS S2N tables  
Females: 40% of Standard SAPS S2N tables 

Post-retirement base mortality Current normal health pensioners who retired in normal health: 

Males: 100% of Standard SAPS S2N tables 
Females: 100% of Standard SAPS S2N tables 

Dependants of current pensioners: 

Males: 110% of Standard SAPS S2N tables 
Females: 110% of Standard SAPS S2N tables 

Current non-pensioners: 

Males: 110% of Standard SAPS S2N tables  
Females: 105% of Standard SAPS S2N tables 

Dependants of current non-pensioners: 

Males: 120% of Standard SAPS S2N tables  
Females: 120% of Standard SAPS S2N tables 

Pensioners retiring in ill-health: 

Males: 110% of Standard SAPS S2I tables 
Females: 105% of Standard SAPS S2I tables 

Improvements to mortality An allowance for improvements between 2007 and 2019 and for future 
improvements in line with the CMI 2018 Mortality Projections Model with sk 
of 7.5 and parameter A of 0.0 assuming a long-term annual rate of 
improvement in mortality rates of 1.5% pa for men and women. 

Promotional salary increases Allowance has been made for age-related promotional increases based on 
analysis of actual experience of the fund (see sample rates below). 

P
age 44



 

 

35 

 

e 

Withdrawals Allowance has been made for withdrawals from service based on analysis 
of actual experience of the fund (see sample rates below). On withdrawal, 
members are assumed to retain a deferred pension in the Fund. 

Retirement age Members were assumed to retire at the following ages: 

 Member group Assumed age at retirement 
 Active members with protected Rule of 85 

age (joined LGPS before 1 October 2006 
and attained age 60 before 1 April 2020) 
(Group 1 and 2 members) 

Age 63 

 Members who joined before 1 October 
2006 and have a rule of 85 age of 60 

Age 63 

 Members who joined before 1 October 
2006 and have a rule of 85 age of greater 
than 60, and members who joined before 1 
April 2014 but after 1 October 2006 

Age 65 

 Members who joined after 31 March 2014 State Pension Age (or age 
65 if higher) 

 Any part of a member’s pension payable from a later age than the assumed 
retirement age will be reduced. 

Retirement cash sum Each member is assumed to surrender pension on retirement, such that the 
total cash received is 85% of the permitted maximum. This figure is based 
on analysis of actual levels of commutation of pension experienced by the 
fund. 

Family details Each man was assumed to be three years older than his wife/partner. 

80% of non-pensioners were assumed to be married or have a spouse, civil 
partner or co-habitee ('partner') at retirement or earlier death. 

80% of pensioners were assumed to be married or have a partner at age 
65. P

age 45



 

 

36 

 

e 

No allowance for children's pensions. 

Retirement due to ill-health Allowance has been made for retirements due to ill-health based on actual 
experience of the fund (see below). Proportions assumed to fall into the 
different benefit tiers are: 
Tier 1  80% 
Tier 2  10% 
Tier 3  10% 

Take up of 50:50 scheme All members are assumed to remain in the scheme they are in at the date 
of the valuation. 

 

The table below illustrates the allowance for withdrawals from service, ill-health retirement and promotional pay 
increases at sample ages. 

Current 
age  

Percentage promotional 
pay increase over year 

Percentage leaving the Fund 
each year as a results of 
withdrawal from service 

Percentage leaving the Fund each year 
as a result of ill-health retirement 

Male Female Male Female 

20 7.0 3.0 11.5 0.00 0.00 

25 4.5 2.7 9.5 0.01 0.01 

30 2.1 1.4 7.6 0.03 0.02 

35 1.0 0.0 6.1 0.05 0.03 

40 0.0 0.0 4.6 0.07 0.04 

45 0.0 0.0 3.0 0.12 0.07 

50 0.0 0.0 2.0 0.16 0.11 

55 0.0 0.0 1.0 0.35 0.24 

60 0.0 0.0 0.5 0.55 0.38 

65 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.00 0.00 
 

  

  

P
age 46



 

 

 

37 

 

 

f 

Membership experience  
 As required by the Regulations, the demographic assumptions used in valuing the liabilities of the Fund are set out in 

Further Information section e, above. The demographic assumptions have been informed by an analysis of membership 
experience including experience since the last valuation of the Fund up to the effective date of our analysis, as well as 
recent research and other relevant factors, such as a membership postcode analysis for death after retirement assumptions.  

For death after retirement the experience analysis was undertaken for the period 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2018. For 
withdrawal rates and ill health retirement rates our analysis was undertaken for the period 1 April 2014 to 31 March 2018.  

The table below shows a comparison of expected membership movements measured by pension amount with observed 
membership movements for death after retirement (in normal and ill health), withdrawal rates and rates of ill health 
retirement. The figures are based on our full experience analysis pro-rated for a 3 year period for ease of comparison 

  

Type of exit Men (£000 of pension) Women  (£000 of pension) 

Death after retirement in normal health 
 Actual 
 Expected 

 
3,303 
3,173 

 
2,303 
2,319 

Death after retirement in ill health 
 Actual 
 Expected 

 
1,209 
1,203 

 
637 
538 

Withdrawals (excluding refunds) 
 Actual 
 Expected 

 
2,999 
2,837 

 
4,876 
4,812 

Ill-health retirements 
 Actual 
 Expected 

 
235 
265 

 
217 
219 

 

 

P
age 47



 

 

 

38 

 

 

g 

Dashboard  
 Following the review by the Government Actuary's Department of all LGPS valuations as at 31 March 2016 under section 13 

of the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 a standard "dashboard" has been added to the report on the valuation to aid 
comparison between valuation reports for different LGPS funds. 

Past service funding position – local funding basis 

Funding level (assets/liabilities)  94% 

Funding level (change since last valuation) +13% 

Asset value used at the valuation £2,982.0m 

Value of liabilities £3,177.5m 

Surplus (deficit) (£195.5M) 

Discount rate(s) 1.30% - 4.25% pa 

Assumed pension increases (CPI) 2.10% pa 

Method of derivation of discount rate, plus any changes since previous valuation The Funding Strategy Statement 
describes the approach used to 
set the funding target and hence 
the discount rates. The 
Administering Authority adopts 
different discount rates depending 
on employers' circumstances 
including the likelihood of exit and 
what would happen to the 
liabilities on exit. 
 

P
age 48



 

 

 

39 

 

 

g 

Assumed life expectancies at age 65 (for those retiring in normal health):  

 Average life expectancy for current pensioners - men currently age 65 22.1 years 

 Average life expectancy for current pensioners - women currently age 65 24.1 years 

 Average life expectancy for future pensioners - men currently age 45 23.1 years 

 Average life expectancy for future pensioners - women currently age 45 25.6 years 

 

Past service funding position – SAB basis (for comparison purposes only)  

Market value of assets £2,982.0m 

Value of liabilities £3,042.0m 

Funding level on SAB basis (assets/liabilities) 98% 

Funding level on SAB basis (change since last valuation) +8% 

 
Contribution rates payable  

Primary contribution rate 17.9% of Pensionable Pay 

Secondary contribution rate (cash amounts in each year in line with CIPFA guidance): 

 Secondary contribution rate 2020/21 £38.523m 

 Secondary contribution rate 2021/22 £9.064m 

 Secondary contribution rate 2022/23 £9.335m 

Giving total expected contributions:  

 Total expected contributions 2020/21 (£ figure based on assumed payroll of 
£410.7m) 

£112.040m 

P
age 49



 

 

 

40 

 

 

g 

 Total expected contributions 2021/22 (£ figure based on assumed payroll of 
£423.4m) 

£84.861m 

 Total expected contributions 2022/23 (£ figure based on assumed payroll of 
£436.6m) 

£87.481m 

Average employee contribution rate (% of pensionable pay) 6.3% of Pensionable Pay 

Employee contribution rate (£ figure based on assumed payroll of £410.7m) £26.1m 

 
 
Additional information  

Percentage of liabilities relating to employers in deficit with deficit recovery periods 
of longer than 20 years 

0% 

Percentage of total liabilities that are in respect of Tier 3 employers 6% 

 
 

 

P
age 50



 

 

41 

 

h 

Rates and Adjustments Certificate  
 Actuarial certificate given for the purposes of Regulation 62 of the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013. 

In accordance with Regulation 62 of the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 (‘the 2013 Regulations'), we 
certify that contributions should be paid by employers at the following rates for the period 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2023. 

 Primary contribution rates for individual employers as shown below. The primary rate for the whole Fund, calculated as 
a weighted average of the employers’ individual rates, is 17.9% p.a. of pensionable pay. 

 Individual adjustments (i.e. secondary contribution rates) which, when added to or subtracted from the primary rate, 
produce the following minimum employer contribution rates. 

Regulation 62(8) requires a statement to be made of the assumptions on which the certificate is given as regards the 
number of members, and the associated amount of liabilities arising, who will become entitled to payment of pensions under 
the LGPS regulations during the period covered by the certificate. These assumptions can be found in section e of the 
Further Information Section of the formal report on the valuation as at 31 March 2019 dated 31 March 2020. They include 
assumptions relating to the members who are expected to become entitled to payment of pensions via normal retirement 
and ill health retirement. In practice members will also become entitled to payment of pensions via early retirement for 
reasons of redundancy or efficiency reasons as well as on voluntary early retirement, for which no assumption has been 
made.   

 
Employer Primary 

contribution rate 
% pensionable 

pay 

Secondary contribution (% 
pensionable pay and £s) 
Year commencing 1 April 

Total contributions (% 
pensionable pay and £s)  
Year commencing 1 April  

2020 2021 2022 2020 2021 2022 
Schedule 2 Part 1 bodies / Schedule 2 Part 2 bodies (Scheduled bodies) 

Advance Learning Partnership 17.3% 6.4% 6.4% 6.4% 23.7% 23.7% 23.7% 

Apollo Studio Academy 12.5% 10.3% 10.3% 10.3% 22.8% 22.8% 22.8% 

P
age 51



 

 

42 

 

h 

Employer Primary 
contribution rate 
% pensionable 

pay 

Secondary contribution (% 
pensionable pay and £s) 
Year commencing 1 April 

Total contributions (% 
pensionable pay and £s)  
Year commencing 1 April  

2020 2021 2022 2020 2021 2022 

Bishop Auckland College 18.4% 
0.9% plus 
£39,000 

0.9% plus 
£40,000 

0.9% plus 
£41,000 

19.3% plus 
£39,000 

19.3% plus 
£40,000 

19.3% plus 
£41,000 

Bowes Museum 26.0% (23.3%) (23.3%) (23.3%) 2.7% 2.7% 2.7% 

Carmel Education Trust 17.9% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 20.4% 20.4% 20.4% 

Cleves Cross Learning Trust 17.2% 4.7% 4.7% 4.7% 21.9% 21.9% 21.9% 

County Durham & Darlington 
Fire & Rescue Brigade 

17.0% 
0.9% plus 
£60,000 

0.9% plus 
£62,000 

0.9% plus 
£64,000 

17.9% plus 
£60,000 

17.9% plus 
£62,000 

17.9% plus 
£64,000 

Darlington Borough Council 17.5% 
0.9% plus 
£263,000 

0.9% plus 
£271,000 

0.9% plus 
£280,000 

18.4% plus 
£263,000 

18.4% plus 
£271,000 

18.4% plus 
£280,000 

Darlington College of 
Technology 

19.0% 
0.9% plus 
£37,000 

0.9% plus 
£38,000 

0.9% plus 
£39,000 

19.9% plus 
£37,000 

19.9% plus 
£38,000 

19.9% plus 
£39,000 

Derwentside College 19.3% 
0.9% plus 
£84,000 

0.9% plus 
£87,000 

0.9% plus 
£90,000 

20.2% plus 
£84,000 

20.2% plus 
£87,000 

20.2% plus 
£90,000 

Durham County Council (1) 17.6% 

0.9% plus 
£2,556,800 

plus 
£9,906,667 
in April 2020 

0.9% plus 
£2,636,200 

plus 
£9,906,667 
in April 2020 

0.9% plus 
£2,717,800 

plus 
£9,906,667 
in April 2020 

18.5% plus 
£2,556,800 

plus 
£9,906,667 

in April 2020 

18.5% plus 
£2,636,200 

plus 
£9,906,667 
in April 2020 

18.5% plus 
£2,717,800 

plus 
£9,906,667 
in April 2020 

Durham Diocesan Multi 
Academy Trust 

18.3% 1.4% 1.4% 1.4% 19.7% 19.7% 19.7% 

East Durham College 18.6% 
0.9% plus 
£76,000 

0.9% plus 
£78,000 

0.9% plus 
£80,000 

19.5% plus 
£76,000 

19.5% plus 
£78,000 

19.5% plus 
£80,000 

Eden Learning Trust 18.6% 4.6% 4.6% 4.6% 23.2% 23.2% 23.2% 

Education Village Academy 
Trust 

17.6% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 18.6% 18.6% 18.6% 

Excel Academy Partnership 
(Framwellgate School) 

17.9% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 19.5% 19.5% 19.5% 

P
age 52



 

 

43 

 

h 

Employer Primary 
contribution rate 
% pensionable 

pay 

Secondary contribution (% 
pensionable pay and £s) 
Year commencing 1 April 

Total contributions (% 
pensionable pay and £s)  
Year commencing 1 April  

2020 2021 2022 2020 2021 2022 
Federation of Abbey Schools 19.4% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 20.9% 20.9% 20.9% 

Federation of Mowden 
Schools Academy Trust 

17.3% 1.3% 1.3% 1.3% 18.6% 18.6% 18.6% 

Firthmoor Primary School 19.4% 1.8% 1.8% 1.8% 21.2% 21.2% 21.2% 

Hopewood Academy 16.7% 3.3% 3.3% 3.3% 20.0% 20.0% 20.0% 

Hummersknott Multi Academy 
Trust 

17.6% 2.9% 2.9% 2.9% 20.5% 20.5% 20.5% 

Jigsaw Learning Trust 20.8% 6.7% 6.7% 6.7% 27.5% 27.5% 27.5% 

King James I Academy 16.8% 2.9% 2.9% 2.9% 19.7% 19.7% 19.7% 

Lingfield Education Trust 17.8% 2.9% 2.9% 2.9% 20.7% 20.7% 20.7% 

New College Durham Multi 
Academy Trust 

18.0% 1.2% 1.2% 1.2% 19.2% 19.2% 19.2% 

New College, Durham 19.5% 
0.9% plus 
£262,000 

0.9% plus 
£270,000 

0.9% plus 
£278,000 

20.4% plus 
£262,000 

20.4% plus 
£270,000 

20.4% plus 
£278,000 

New Seaham Academy 18.5% 1.8% 1.8% 1.8% 20.3% 20.3% 20.3% 

North East Learning Trust 17.2% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 20.7% 20.7% 20.7% 

Northern Saints Catholic 
Education Trust 

20.0% 5.8% 5.8% 5.8% 25.7% 25.7% 25.7% 

Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner for Durham 

16.1% 0.9% 0.9% 0.9% 17.0% 17.0% 17.0% 

Park View School 18.3% 3.7% 3.7% 3.7% 22.0% 22.0% 22.0% 

Polam Hall Free School 18.3% 0.9% 0.9% 0.9% 19.2% 19.2% 19.2% 

Queen Elizabeth Sixth Form 
College 

19.9% 0.8% 0.8% 0.8% 20.7% 20.7% 20.7% 

Reid Street Primary School 18.1% 0.9% 0.9% 0.9% 19.0% 19.0% 19.0% P
age 53



 

 

44 

 

h 

Employer Primary 
contribution rate 
% pensionable 

pay 

Secondary contribution (% 
pensionable pay and £s) 
Year commencing 1 April 

Total contributions (% 
pensionable pay and £s)  
Year commencing 1 April  

2020 2021 2022 2020 2021 2022 
Ribbon Academy 17.7% 3.8% 3.8% 3.8% 21.5% 21.5% 21.5% 

SaGE MAT 18.0% 2.6% 2.6% 2.6% 20.6% 20.6% 20.6% 

St Aidans C of E Academy 17.5% (2.7%) (2.7%) (2.7%) 14.8% 14.8% 14.8% 

Stanley Learning Partnership 18.2% 6.2% 6.2% 6.2% 24.4% 24.4% 24.4% 

Swift Academies Trust 17.8% 1.3% 1.3% 1.3% 19.1% 19.1% 19.1% 

The Dove Academy Trust 20.0% 4.7% 4.7% 4.7% 24.7% 24.7% 24.7% 

The Hermitage Academy 17.4% 3.7% 3.7% 3.7% 21.1% 21.1% 21.1% 

Town and Parish Councils 18.6% 0.3% 0.3% 0.3% 18.9% 18.9% 18.9% 

Trinity Catholic MAT 18.0% 4.8% 4.8% 4.8% 22.8% 22.8% 22.8% 

Tudhoe Learning Trust 18.1% 4.4% 4.4% 4.4% 22.5% 22.5% 22.5% 

Wyvern Academy 18.8% 3.2% 3.2% 3.2% 22.0% 22.0% 22.0% 

Schedule 2 Part 3 bodies (Admission Bodies) where the scheduled body and subsumption funding target applies 

Blackwell Grange Golf Club 17.5% 0.9% 0.9% 0.9% 18.4% 18.4% 18.4% 

Future Leisure in Coxhoe 16.3% (16.3%) (16.3%) (16.3%) 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

Harbour Support Services 17.6% 0.9% 0.9% 0.9% 18.5% 18.5% 18.5% 

Investing in Children 17.6% 0.9% 0.9% 0.9% 18.5% 18.5% 18.5% 

Keepmoat 23.7% (7.7%) (15.7%) (23.7%) 16.0% 8.0% 0.0% 

Making Space (Darlington 
Home Care) 

17.5% 0.9% 0.9% 0.9% 18.4% 18.4% 18.4% 

NECA Services Limited 17.5% 0.9% 0.9% 0.9% 18.4% 18.4% 18.4% 

Science Museum Group 17.6% 0.9% 0.9% 0.9% 18.5% 18.5% 18.5% 

Taylor Shaw Primary 22.4% (17.6%) (17.6%) (17.6%) 4.8% 4.8% 4.8% 

P
age 54



 

 

45 

 

h 

Employer Primary 
contribution rate 
% pensionable 

pay 

Secondary contribution (% 
pensionable pay and £s) 
Year commencing 1 April 

Total contributions (% 
pensionable pay and £s)  
Year commencing 1 April  

2020 2021 2022 2020 2021 2022 
UTC South Durham 17.0% 0.9% 0.9% 0.9% 17.9% 17.9% 17.9% 

YS Services Limited 17.6% 0.9% 0.9% 0.9% 18.5% 18.5% 18.5% 

Schedule 2 Part 3 bodies (Admission Bodies) where the ongoing orphan funding target applies 

Barnard Castle School 32.9% 
0.9% plus 
£33,000 

0.9% plus 
£34,000 

0.9% plus 
£35,000 

33.8% plus 
£33,000 

33.8% plus 
£34,000 

33.8% plus 
£35,000 

Cestria Community Housing (2) 27.0% 0.9% 0.9% 0.9% 27.9% 27.9% 27.9% 

Churchill Contract Services 
Limited 

35.1% 
0.9% plus 

£2,360 
0.9% 0.9% 

36.0% plus 
£2,360 

36.0% 36.0% 

Believe Housing (County 
Durham Housing Group) (2) 

20.7% 
0.9% plus 
£837,000 

0.9% plus 
£863,000 

0.9% plus 
£889,000 

21.6% plus 
£837,000 

21.6% plus 
£863,000 

21.6% plus 
£889,000 

Derwentside Homes (2) 25.7% (0.7%) (0.7%) (0.7%) 25.0% 25.0% 25.0% 

Livin Housing (2) 24.4% (3.1%) (3.1%) (3.1%) 21.3% 21.3% 21.3% 

Mears (ex-Morrison contract) 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

Mears (livin Housing contract) 32.1% 0.9% 0.9% 0.9% 33.0% 33.0% 33.0% 

Mitie Cleaning 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

Mitie PFI Ltd 37.5% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 37.5% 37.5% 37.5% 

Murton Welfare Association 30.3% 0.9% 0.9% 0.9% 31.2% 31.2% 31.2% 

Orian Solutions Limited 32.4% 
0.9% plus 

£570 
0.9% plus 

£590 
0.9% plus 

£610 
33.3% plus 

£570 
33.3% plus 

£590 
33.3% plus 

£610 

Teesdale Housing Association 
(2) 

21.5% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 21.5% 21.5% 21.5% 

The Forge 35.5% (5.2%) (5.2%) (5.2%) 30.3% 30.3% 30.3% 

Total 17.9% 1.1% plus 
£33,970,740 

1.1% plus 
£4,379,800 

1.1% plus 
£4,514,410 

19.0% plus 
£33,970,740 

19.0% plus 
£4,379,800 

19.0% plus 
£4,514,410 

 

P
age 55



 

 

46 

 

h 

 
 Notes: 

(1) Advance payment of the secondary contributions has been agreed to be paid by these employers in April 2020. The total secondary contribution due 
in April 2020 is summarised below (this is the sum of the amounts shown in the above table). 
 

Employer  Secondary contribution due in April 2020 

Durham County Council £29,720,000 

 

(2) Liabilities in respect of the members who originally transferred to these employers are subject to a subsumption agreement 

(3) The contributions shown above represent the minimum contributions to be paid by each employer. Employers may choose to pay additional 
contributions from time to time subject to the Administering Authority's agreement. 

(4) Where payments due from an employer are expressed as monetary amounts, the amounts payable by that employer may be adjusted to take account 
of any amounts payable, in respect of a surplus or shortfall to which those monetary payments relate, by new employers created after the valuation 
date which have been credited with proportions of the assets and liabilities of the relevant employer.  

(5) Additional contributions may be required in respect of any additional liabilities that arise under the provisions of Regulations 30, 31, 35 and 38 of the 
2013 Regulations and employers will be notified of such contributions separately by the Administering Authority. 

(6) Additional contributions may be payable by any employers which have ceased to participate in the Fund since 31 March 2019 and these will be 
certified separately. 

(7) Contribution rates for Employers commencing participation in the Fund after 31 March 2019 will be advised separately. 

 

  

Becky Durran FIA 

Becky.durran@aon.com 

Jonathan Teasdale FIA 

Jonathan.teasdale@aon.com 

Dated: 30 March 2020 

 

P
age 56

mailto:Becky.durran@aon.com
mailto:Chris.archer@aon.com


 

47 

i 

Glossary 
 Active member  A person who is employed by an employer participating in the Fund, and is paying (or 

is treated as paying) contributions to the Fund (includes certain members temporarily 
absent, eg due to family leave or sickness). 

Admission body  An employer admitted to the Fund under an admission agreement. 

Attained age method  This is one of the methods used by actuaries to calculate a contribution rate to the 
Fund. This method calculates the present value of the benefits expected to accrue to 
members over their expected remaining membership of the Fund expressed as a 
percentage of their expected future pensionable pay. It allows for projected future 
increases to pay or revaluation as appropriate through to retirement or date of leaving 
service. The method is based on the current membership and takes no account of the 
possibility of further members joining the Fund. If there are no new members, this 
method would be expected to result in a stable contribution rate, once surpluses or 
shortfalls are taken into account, and if all the other assumptions are borne out. 
However, if more members join the Fund to replace older leavers, the contribution rate 
can be expected to fall. 

Consumer prices index 
(CPI)  

This is the price inflation index that increases to pensions and deferred pensions paid 
by the Fund are currently based on. It is published every month by the Office of 
National Statistics. 

Deferred member  A former employee who has left active membership, but has not yet received any 
benefits from the Fund and is prospectively entitled to receive a deferred pension from 
his/her normal pension age. 

Discount rate  Expected future investment returns calculated with reference to an assumed 
investment strategy and level of prudence.The discount rate is used to translate the 
estimated future benefit payments from the Fund into a single figure which represents 
the amount needed to be held today to provide them.  

P
age 57



 

48 

i 

Fund actuary  The actuary to the Fund, who provides actuarial advice to the Administering Authority 
including carrying out the actuarial valuation contained in this report. 

Funding level (or 
funding ratio) 

This is the ratio of the value of assets to the Funding Target. 

Funding objective  To hold sufficient and appropriate assets to cover the Funding Target. 

Funding Strategy 
Statement  

A document prepared by the Administering Authority in accordance with the 
Regulations which sets out the funding strategy adopted for the Fund. The Fund 
Actuary must have regard to this statement in preparing this actuarial valuation. 

Funding target  An assessment of the present value of the benefits that will be paid from the Fund in 
the future, normally based on pensionable service prior to the valuation date. Under 
the current Funding Strategy Statement the funding target is equal to the past service 
liabilities calculated using a prudent set of assumptions. 

Future service 
contribution rate  

The contribution rate (expressed as a percentage of pensionable pay) required to meet 
the cost of benefits which will accrue to members in future.  This is also known as the 
primary contribution rate. 

Guaranteed minimum 
pensions (GMPs)  

Most Funds that were contracted out of the State Earnings Related Pension Scheme 
(SERPS) before April 1997 have to provide a pension for service before that date at 
least equal to the Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP). This is approximately equal to 
the SERPS pension that the member would have earned had the Fund not been 
contracted out. GMPs ceased to accrue on 6 April 1997 when the legislation changed. 

Intermediate funding 
target 

For non tax raising Scheduled Bodies, the discount rate is set similarly to the 
Scheduled body/Sumption funding target, but with an additional allowance for 
prudence so that the left service discount rate is 0.45% lower. 

Long-term cost 
efficiency  

This is not defined in the Regulations but further explanation can be found in the Cipfa 
guidance 'Preparing and Maintaining a Funding Strategy Statement', dated September 
2016:  

 

P
age 58



 

49 

i 

The notes to the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 state: 

Long-term cost-efficiency implies that the rate must not be set at a level that gives rise 
to additional costs. For example, deferring costs to the future would be likely to result in 
those costs being greater overall than if they were provided for at the time. 

The rate of employer contributions shall be deemed to have been set at an appropriate 
level to ensure long-term cost efficiency if the rate of employer contributions is 
sufficient to make provision for the cost of current benefit accrual, with an appropriate 
adjustment to that rate for any surplus or shortfall in the fund. 

In assessing whether the above condition is met, the Government Actuary's 
Department (GAD) may have regard to the following considerations: 

 the implied average shortfall recovery period 

 the investment return required to achieve full funding over different periods, e.g. 
the recovery period 

 if there is no shortfall, the extent to which contributions payable are likely to lead to 
a shortfall arising in the future 

the extent to which the required investment return above is less than the administering 
authority’s view of the expected future return being targeted by a fund’s investment 
strategy, taking into account changes in maturity/strategy as appropriate 

Low risk funding target Funding target used for already orphaned liabilities in the Fund. The discount rate is 
based on the yield on long-dated fixed interest gilts at a duration appropriate for the 
Fund's liabilities. 

(Ongoing) Orphan 
employer  

This is an employer whose participation in the Fund may cease at some future point in 
time, after which it is expected that the Administering Authority will have no access to 
future contributions from that employer for the employer's liabilities in the Fund once 
any liability on exit has been paid. On exit the employer’s liabilities will become ‘orphan 
liabilities’ in the Fund. 

P
age 59



 

50 

i 

Ongoing orphan 
funding target  

For active employers whose liabilities are expected to be orphaned on exit, the 
Administering Authority will have regard to the potential for participation to cease (or for 
the body to have no contributing members), the potential timing of such exit, and any 
likely change in notional or actual investment strategy as regards the assets held in 
respect of the body's liabilities at the date of exit (i.e. whether the liabilities will become 
'orphaned' or a guarantor exists to subsume the notional assets and liabilities). This is 
known as the ongoing orphan funding target. 

Typically employers which will ultimately give rise to Orphan liabilities will have a 
discount rate which is based on the yield on long-dated fixed interest gilts at a duration 
appropriate for the Fund's liabilities plus an asset out-performance assumption 
(typically this addition will be different when applied to liabilities in relation to members 
still in service and to those who have left service). The addition for the left service 
discount rate reflects market expectations of the possible future increase in the gilt 
yield curve over the next five years. 

Orphan/orphaned 
liabilities 

Liabilities in the fund for which no currently contributing employer has responsibility. 

Past service liabilities  This is the present value of the benefits to which members are entitled based on 
benefits accrued to the valuation date, assessed using the assumptions agreed for 
each employer between a Fund's Administering Authority and the Fund Actuary. It 
generally allows for projected future increases to pay or revaluation as appropriate 
through to retirement or date of leaving service. 

Pensioner member An individual who is receiving a pension from the fund, including dependants of former 
active, deferred or pensioner members. 

Present value  Actuarial valuations involve projections of pay, pensions and other benefits into the 
future. To express the value of the projected benefits in terms of a cash amount at the 
valuation date, the projected amounts are discounted back to the valuation date by a 
discount rate. This value is known as the present value. For example, if the discount 
rate was 4% a year and if we had to pay a cash sum of £1,040 in one year’s time the 
present value would be £1,000. 

P
age 60



 

51 

i 

Primary rate of 
employer's contribution  

This is not defined in the Regulations but further explanation can be found in the Cipfa 
guidance Preparing and Maintaining a Funding Strategy Statement, dated September 
2016:  

The primary rate for each employer is that employer’s future service contribution rate, 
which is the contribution rate required to meet the cost of the future accrual of benefits, 
expressed as a percentage of pensionable pay, ignoring any past service surplus or 
shortfall but allowing for any employer-specific circumstances, such as the 
membership profile of that employer, the funding strategy adopted for that employer 
(including any risk-sharing arrangements operated by the administering authority), the 
actuarial method chosen and/or the employer’s covenant. 

The primary rate for the whole fund is the weighted average (by payroll) of the 
individual employers’ primary rates. 

Projected unit method  One of the common methods used by actuaries to calculate a contribution rate to a 
Fund. 

This method calculates the present value of the benefits expected to accrue to 
members over a control period (often one year) following the valuation date. The 
present value is usually expressed as a percentage of the members’ pensionable pay. 
It allows for projected future increases to pay or revaluation as appropriate through to 
retirement or date of leaving service. Provided that the distribution of members remains 
stable with new members joining to take the place of older leavers, the contribution 
rate calculated can be expected to remain stable, if all the other assumptions are borne 
out. If there are no new members however, the average age will increase and the 
contribution rate can be expected to rise. 

Prudent  Prudent assumptions are such that the actual outcome is considered to be more likely 
to overstate than understate the amount of money actually required to meet the cost of 
the benefits. 

Rates and adjustments 
certificate  

A certificate required at each actuarial valuation by the Regulations, setting out the 
contributions payable by employers for the 3 years from the 1 April following the 
valuation date. 

P
age 61



 

52 

i 

Recovery period  The period over which any surplus or shortfall is to be eliminated. 

Recovery plan  Where a valuation shows a funding shortfall against the past service liabilities, a 
recovery plan sets out how the Administering Authority intends to meet the funding 
objective. 

Regulations  The statutory regulations setting out the contributions payable to, and the benefits 
payable from, the Local Government Pension Scheme and how the Funds are to be 
administered. They currently include the following sets of regulations: 

 1997 Regulations - Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 1997 

 Administration Regulations - Local Government Pension Scheme (Administration) 
Regulations 2008 

 Benefits Regulations - Local Government Pension Scheme (Benefits, Membership, 
and Contributions) Regulations 2007 

 Transitional Regulations - Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional 
provisions) 1997 

 2013 Regulations - Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 

 2014 Transitional Regulations - Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional 
Provisions, Savings and Amendment) Regulations 2014 

Scheduled body  Bodies which participate in the Fund under Schedule 2 of the 2013 Regulations. 

Scheduled body and 
subsumption funding 
target  

For secure Scheduled Bodies whose participation in the Fund is considered by the 
Administering Authority to be indefinite and Admission Bodies with a subsumption 
commitment from such Scheduled Bodies, the Administering Authority assumes 
indefinite investment in a broad range of assets of higher risk than risk free assets.  
This is known as the scheduled and subsumption body funding target. 

Secondary rate of the 
employers' contribution  

This is not defined in the Regulations but further explanation can be found in the Cipfa 
guidance 'Preparing and Maintaining a Funding Strategy Statement', dated September 
2016:  

P
age 62



 

53 

i 

The secondary rate is an adjustment to the primary rate to arrive at the rate each 
employer is required to pay. It may be expressed as a percentage adjustment to the 
primary rate, and/or a cash adjustment in each of the three years beginning with 1 April 
in the year following that in which the valuation date falls. The secondary rate is 
specified in the rates and adjustments certificate. For any employer, the rate they are 
actually required to pay is the sum of the primary and secondary rates. 

The Fund Actuary is required to also disclose the secondary rates for the whole 
scheme in each of the three years beginning with 1 April in the year following that in 
which the valuation date falls. These should be calculated as a weighted average 
based on the whole scheme payroll in respect of percentage rates and as a total 
amount in respect of cash adjustments. The purpose of this is to facilitate a single net 
rate of contributions expected to be received over each of the three years that can be 
readily compared with other rates and reconciled with actual receipts. 

Shortfall  Where the assets are less than the Funding Target, the shortfall is the Funding Target 
less the value of assets. 

Shortfall contributions  Additional contributions payable by employers to remove the shortfall by the end of the 
recovery period. 

Solvency  This is not defined in the Regulations but further explanation can be found in the Cipfa 
guidance Preparing and Maintaining a Funding Strategy Statement, dated September 
2016:  

The notes to the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 state that solvency means that the 
rate of employer contributions should be set at “such level as to ensure that the 
scheme’s liabilities can be met as they arise”. It is not regarded that this means that the 
pension fund should be 100% funded at all times. Rather, and for the purposes of 
Section 13 of the Public Service Pensions Act 2013, the rate of employer contributions 
shall be deemed to have been set at an appropriate level to ensure solvency if: 

 the rate of employer contributions is set to target a funding level for the whole fund 
(assets divided by liabilities) of 100% over an appropriate time period and using 
appropriate actuarial assumptions; and either 

P
age 63



 

54 

i 

 employers collectively have the financial capacity to increase employer 
contributions, and/or the fund is able to realise contingent assets should future 
circumstances require, in order to continue to target a funding level of 100%; or  

 there is an appropriate plan in place should there be, or if there is expected in 
future to be, no or a limited number of fund employers, or a material reduction in 
the capacity of fund employers to increase contributions as might be needed. 

If the conditions above are met, then it is expected that the fund will be able to pay 
scheme benefits as they fall due. 

State pension age 
(SPA)  

Age at which State pensions are payable. Current legislation specifies the following 
ages: 

 Currently age 65 for men; transitioning to age 65 for women by 2018. 

 Current legislation transitions State Pension Age for both men and women to age 
68 by 2046, as follows: 

- to age 66 by 2020 

- to age 67 by 2028 

- to age 68 by 2046 

Strains  These represent the cost of additional benefits granted to members under a discretion 
of the employer or the Administering Authority. They include the cost of providing 
enhanced benefits on retirement or redundancy. 

Subsumption and 
subsumption body  

An employer which is not a secure long term Scheduled Body and where the 
Administering Authority has obtained an undertaking from a related employer that, if 
and when the employer exits the Fund, they will be a source of future funding should 
any funding shortfalls emerge on the original employer's liabilities after exit.  

In this document the process of taking on the responsibility for future funding at the 
point of exit is known as ‘subsumption’ of an employer’s liabilities. The employer whose 
liabilities will be (or are being) subsumed is referred to as a subsumption body. 

P
age 64



 

55 

i 

Surplus  Where the assets are more than the Funding Target, the surplus is the value of assets 
less the Funding Target. 

Transfer value  Members generally have a legal right to transfer their benefits to another pension 
arrangement before they retire. In taking a transfer, members give up their benefits in a 
fund, and a sum of money (called the transfer value) is paid into another approved 
pension fund. This is used to provide pension benefits on the terms offered in that 
fund. 

 

 

  

 

P
age 65



 

56 

Contact us 

 

Becky Durran FIA 

Senior Consultant 

becky.durran@aon.com 

Jonathan Teasdale FIA 

Partner 

jonathan.teasdale@aon.com 

 

About Aon 
Aon plc (NYSE:AON) is a leading global professional services firm providing a broad range of risk, retirement and health solutions. Our 
50,000 colleagues in 120 countries empower results for clients by using proprietary data and analytics to deliver insights that reduce 
volatility and improve performance. 

Copyright © 2020 Aon Hewitt Limited. All rights reserved. Aon.com 

Aon Hewitt Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. 
Registered in England & Wales No. 4396810 
Registered office: 
The Aon Centre | The Leadenhall Building | 122 Leadenhall Street | London | EC3V 4AN 

This report and any enclosures or attachments are prepared on the understanding that it is solely for the benefit of the addressee(s). 
Unless we provide express prior written consent no part of this report should be reproduced, distributed or communicated to anyone 
else and, in providing this report, we do not accept or assume any responsibility for any other purpose or to anyone other than the 
addressee(s) of this report. 

P
age 66

mailto:firstname.lastname@aon.com
mailto:firstname.lastname@aon.com
http://www.aon.com/

	Agenda
	4 The Minutes of the Meeting held on 12 March 2020
	7 Pension Fund Valuation
	Appendix 1 - 2019 Valuation Report
	At a glance
	Introduction
	Update since the previous valuation
	Notable changes since the previous valuation
	Membership data and benefits
	Funding objectives
	Summary of assumptions
	Past service results
	Addressing the shortfall
	Future service results
	Risks and uncertainties
	Employer contribution rates
	Final comments
	Legal framework
	Membership data
	Uncertainties
	Assets
	Assumptions
	Membership experience
	Dashboard
	Rates and Adjustments Certificate
	Glossary
	Contact us



